
 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 21ST APRIL, 2021 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  

  
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being 

filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined 
above. 

 

 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department.  An item is 
subject to call-in within 5 working days from the date a decision is published unless 

reference to an item’s urgency is made at the time the decision is made.  Any member 
of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685 725284) or email 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

OPEN SESSION 

Strategic 

3. Public Health Wales Act 2017   

 To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

5 - 10 

Portfolio 

4. Repayable Funding to Support the Regeneration 
of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre  

 

 To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

11 - 16 

5. School Meal Prices 2021/22   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

17 - 22 

6. Payment of Care Home Fees 2021/2022   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

23 - 30 

7. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     L Mytton (Chair) 

                       C Davies (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     A Barry, D Hughes, G Thomas and 

T Rogers 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  To inform Cabinet of the provisions of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 as they 

relate to the Council. The provisions of the Act aim to address a number of specific 
and current public health concerns, and to create social conditions that are 
conducive to good health, where avoidable harms can be prevented. It deals with 
obesity, tobacco and nicotine products, special procedures (acupuncture, body 
piercing, electrolysis, tattooing), intimate piercing, health impact assessments, 
pharmaceutical services, and toilets for public use. The Act prescribes Local 
Authorities (amongst others) as enforcement bodies for the Act. 

   
1.2  To obtain authorisation for Officers to enforce the provisions of the Public Health 

(Wales) Act 2017.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
2.1 The delegation of authority to the following Council officers to enforce the provisions 

of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 
a. Environmental Health Officers,  
b. Environmental Health Regulatory Support Officers 
c. Environmental Health Technicians 
d. Trading Standards Officers 
e. Fair Trading Officers 
f.  Licensing Officers 
be approved  

 

Date Written 24th March 2021* 

Report Author Simon Jones 

Service Area Legal & Democratic 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 21st April 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.2 The updating of the Council’s constitution accordingly be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1  The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 (“the Act”) which obtained Royal Assent on the 

3rd July 2017 has been introduced in an stages via six commencement orders, the 
most recent being on the 1st March of this year. The Act aims to address a number of 
specific public health concerns, and to create social conditions that are conducive to 
good health and where avoidable harms can be prevented. It includes provisions 
relating to obesity, tobacco and nicotine products, special procedures (acupuncture, 
body piercing, electrolysis, tattooing), intimate piercing, health impact assessments, 
pharmaceutical services, and toilets for public use. There are staged 
commencement dates for the different parts of the Act which will be enforced and 
implemented by a variety of organisations. The parts of the Act which are the 
enforcement responsibility of the local authority are summarised below. 

 
3.2  Part 3 Tobacco and nicotine products. This part of the Act which recently came 

into force re-states restrictions on smoking in enclosed and substantially enclosed 
public and workplaces. Additionally, it places restrictions on smoking in outdoor care 
settings for children, school grounds, hospital grounds and public playgrounds. It is 
believed that restricting smoking in non-enclosed spaces such as hospital grounds, 
school grounds and children’s playgrounds will contribute to the de-normalisation of 
smoking, by providing fewer opportunities for the activity of smoking to be seen. In 
addition, the provisions relating to hospital grounds are intended to promote 
behaviour change and support smoking cessation among smokers who use hospital 
services. The Act authorises each local authority to act as an enforcement authority 
in relation to premises, places and vehicles that are within its area. Additionally, 
regulations may make provision the Police to be authorised to act as an enforcement 
authority in relation to vehicles that are in that police area. 

 
3.3 Part 4 Special procedures The Act creates a mandatory licensing scheme for 

practitioners and businesses carrying out special procedures in Wales. The four 
special procedures specified in the Act are acupuncture, body piercing, electrolysis, 
and tattooing. It will be an offence for a practitioner to carry out any of these special 
procedures without a licence, or to perform any procedure from premises or vehicles 
that are not approved. There will be provision to add to the list of special procedures 
(or to remove procedures) via regulations, to take account of new practices and 
changing trends, and any emerging evidence of public health risk. The 
commencement date for Part 4 is yet to be confirmed. 

 
3.4 Part 5 Intimate piercing.  This part of the Act is in force and prohibits the intimate 

piercing of a person who is under the age of 18 in Wales, in any setting. It is also an 
offence to make arrangements to perform such a procedure on a person under 18. 
This part of the Act can be enforced by Police and local authorities.  

 
3.5  In addition to the above the Act will establish a national register of retailers of 

tobacco and nicotine products. All retailers who sell either tobacco products or 
nicotine products in Wales will have to register to be permitted to sell these products 

Page 6



- it will be an offence to sell tobacco/nicotine products from premises (including 
mobile units) in Wales if they are not on the national register.  

 
3.6  The Act provides Welsh Ministers with a regulation-making power to add to the 

offences which contribute to a Restricted Premises Order (RPO) in Wales. (An RPO 
prohibits the sale from a premises of any tobacco products to any person, by the 
business or any of its staff for a period of up to one year). Such offences must relate 
to the supply, sale, transport, display, offer for sale, advertising or possession of 
tobacco and nicotine products. The Act also prohibits the handing over of tobacco 
and/or nicotine products to a person under the age of 18. This relates to situations 
where, for example, a delivery driver knowingly hands over tobacco or nicotine 
products to someone under the age of 18 who is unaccompanied by an adult. 

  
3.7  In other provisions the Act places a duty on the Welsh Ministers to make regulations 

which require public bodies to carry out health impact assessments in specified 
circumstances and requires the Welsh Government to publish a national strategy on 
preventing and reducing obesity. Under the Act, each local authority in Wales is 
required to prepare and publish a local toilets strategy for its area. The Act also 
contains measures aimed at improving the planning and delivery of pharmaceutical 
services, and strengthening the role of community pharmacy, in promoting and 
protecting public health. The Act makes a minor technical amendment to the Food 
Hygiene Rating (Wales) Act 2013. This allows for receipts from fixed penalty notices 
for non-compliance with the food hygiene rating scheme to be used by food 
authorities (primarily local authorities) to enforce the scheme.  
 

4.0 NEXT STEPS 
 

4.1  In order to comply with statutory requirements set out in the Act and to ensure proper 
and effective enforcement of the legislation Cabinet is required to delegate 
enforcement powers to officers. The discharge of duties under the Local Government 
Act 1972 and the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 is a Cabinet function. 

 
 

5.0  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1  Enforcement activities will be carried out within existing work programmes and the 

authorisation of Officers under the Act has no direct financial implications save for a 
possible increase in officer time dealing with practitioner queries; responding to 
customer/public complaints; and prosecutions associated with offences established 
under the Act.  

 
5.2 The licensing requirements for special procedures (3.3 above) will bring in new 

income, to help offset the cost of implementation and enforcement.  
 
5.3  The Act makes a minor technical amendment to the Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) 

Act 2013 so that the receipts from fixed penalty notices for non-compliance with the 
food hygiene rating scheme must be used by food authorities (primarily local 
authorities) to enforce the scheme. This will bring the Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) 
Act into line with the provisions of the Public Health (Wales) Act, under which 

Page 7



receipts from fixed penalty notices issued under Part 3 must be used by enforcement 
authorities to support the new duties imposed on them in these chapters of the Act.  

 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  

4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
9 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
1 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage  
0 of 6 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
6 of 6 

 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 
 

1 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

Yes No 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
1 of 1 

 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
1 of 1 

 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

 
Implementation and enforcement of the Act will address a number of 
specific current public health concerns, and to create social conditions 
that are conducive to good health, where avoidable harms can be 
prevented 
 

The main 
negative impacts 
are: 

 
None 
 

 

 

Page 8



ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

COUNCILLOR TONY ROGERS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING & 

PUBLIC PROTECTION 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
None 

 

 
None 

 
None 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

Yes 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Repayable Funding to Support the Regeneration of 
Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In October 2020, the Deputy Minister for Housing and Local Government opened a 

call for applications for the Town Centre Loan Repayable Funding Scheme for Local 
Authority use. 

 
1.2  The core aims of the scheme are to reduce the number of vacant, underutilised and 

redundant sites and premises in town centres and to support the diversification of 
town centres. 

 
1.3  In January 2021, a loans programme application was submitted to Welsh 

Government requesting finance for businesses to access, across both Merthyr Tydfil 
and Treharris Town Centres.   

 
1.4 It is anticipated that the loan finance will be targeted primarily at Merthyr Tydfil Town 

Centre but would be available for businesses in Treharris should a robust business 
case be presented. 

 
1.5  Merthyr Tydfil CBC is currently delivering a ‘Merthyr Tydfil Business Loan Scheme’ 

which is being funded through Welsh Government’s Regeneration Department.   
 
1.6  An initial loans programme was approved in 2018.  The loan programme was 

deemed a success and in January 2020 a further request was made to Welsh 

Date Written 6th April 2021 ** 

Report Author Zoe Thomas / Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration  

Committee Division Cabinet  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt  

Committee Date 21st April 2021  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Government to extend the loan programme in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre and in 
March 2020 an offer letter was issued for £1m for the period April 2020 to April 2025.   

 
1.7 The purpose of the request for the Town Centre Repayable Funding Scheme was 

identical to the current loan programme that Merthyr Tydfil CBC are delivering (with 
the exception that Merthyr Tydfil CBC would also be eligible to apply and use the 
loan for regeneration purposes to support the delivery of the masterplan).   

 
1.8 In March 2021, an offer letter was issued to Merthyr Tydfil CBC by Welsh 

Government confirming that the Council had secured £1m to issue as repayable 
finance 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The award of repayable funding for the regeneration of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre is 

approved.  
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In October 2020, the Deputy Minister for Housing and Local Government opened a 

call for applications for the Town Centre Loan Repayable Funding Scheme for Local 
Authority use.   

 
3.2  The core aims of the scheme are to reduce the number of vacant, underutilised and 

redundant sites and premises in town centres and to support the diversification of 
town centres. This scheme would encourage more sustainable uses for empty sites 
and premises, such as residential, leisure and for key services.   

 
3.3  By supporting the vibrancy and viability of town centres the outcomes would focus on 

supporting job creation and economic growth, tackling poverty, increasing the supply 
and quality of accommodation offer, and supporting targeted training and recruitment 
during construction. 

 
3.4  This allocation would also become an additional tool that can be used to support the 

recovery plans for Town Centres following the COVID-19 lockdown, which has had 
far reaching repercussions across Wales. 

 
3.5  The location of any investment must be focussed on town centres. Welsh 

Government require local authorities to report against which town centres are being 
assisted. 

 
3.6  The funding can be recycled over a 15-year period and the Welsh Government will 

require it returned in full after 15 years. 
 
3.7  This is a capital fund only so no additional funding to manage and administer this 

initiative would be provided by the Welsh Government. 
 

Page 12



4.0 Repayable Funding Application 
 
4.1 In January 2021, a loans programme application was submitted to Welsh 

Government requesting finance for businesses to access, across both Merthyr Tydfil 
and Treharris Town Centres.  It is anticipated that the loan finance will be targeted 
primarily at Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre but would be available for businesses in 
Treharris should a robust business case be presented. 

 
4.2  Merthyr Tydfil CBC is currently delivering a ‘Merthyr Tydfil Business Loan Scheme’ 

which is being funded through Welsh Government’s Regeneration Department.  The 
Business Loan was allocated to Merthyr Tydfil CBC in January 2018 and the term of 
the loan was April 2018 to April 2020.  £1m was made available under the re-
payable scheme and the purpose of the loan was to provide businesses with short 
term finance for the purpose of increasing jobs, increasing visitor numbers, reducing 
the number of vacant, redundant or under-utilised sites and premises within Merthyr 
Tydfil Town Centre by encouraging more sustainable uses for empty sites and 
premises. 

 
4.3  The loan programme was deemed a success and in January 2020 a further request 

was made to Welsh Government to extend the loan programme in Merthyr Tydfil 
Town Centre and in March 2020 an offer letter was issued for £1m for the period 
April 2020 to April 2025.  The loan purpose remained the same as the original loan. 

 
4.4  The purpose of the request for the Town Centre Repayable Funding Scheme was 

identical to the current loan programme that Merthyr Tydfil CBC are delivering (with 
the exception that Merthyr Tydfil CBC would also be eligible to apply and use the 
loan for regeneration purposes to support the delivery of the masterplan).  A 
business can apply for loan finance (with no lower or upper limit) and the 
assessment is based on the outputs that can be achieved, the benefit the scheme 
will have on the Town Centre, linkages to key strategies, the re-payable term and 
following robust due diligence on the applicant. 

 
4.5  In March 2021, an offer letter was issued to Merthyr Tydfil CBC by Welsh 

Government confirming that the Council had secured £1m to issue as repayable 
finance. 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications for the local authority.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 
 Positive 

Impacts 
Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives   3 of 4 1 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles - How 
have you considered the five ways of 
working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh 
Language) 

 
2 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
8 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage  
0 of 6 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
6 of 6 

 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 1 of 1 
 

1 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the proposal Yes No 

 
 1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

The main positive impacts are that the delivery of the Reayable Loan Scheme 
in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre will support Well-being Objectives and 
Sustainable Development Principles through targeting economic growth and 
reducing vacancy rates, with a focus on the long-term sustainability of the 
Town Centre.  The project will have a positive effect on the economy, socially 
and on heritage.    
 

The main negative 
impacts are: 

 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN  
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS  
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION, TRANSFORMATION 
AND COMMERCIALISATION 

 
 
 

Page 14



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
CABINET REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

School Meal Prices 2021/22 
 

 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
  
1.1 To update members on the current position regarding school meals provision and 

agree prices to be charged for school meals during financial year 2021/22. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 A price freeze on school meals for the financial year 2021/22 be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The local authority offers a catering service to schools for the provision of school 

meals under the terms of a Service Level Agreement (SLA).  The main purpose of the 
School Meals SLA is to cater for all pupils eligible for a free school meal (eFSM) and 
the SLA charge covers the cost of providing school meals to eFSM pupils. 

 
3.2 The SLA also includes the provision of school meals to non-FSM pupils for a price per 

meal that is budgeted to cover the full cost of the additional meals provided. 
Therefore, the local authority is responsible for ensuring that the price charged per 
meal covers the cost of delivering the paid meal element of the service. 
 

3.3 The price of school meals is usually set in either April or September each year and 
were most recently increased in April 2019 by a uniform increase across all schools of 
20p.  This set prices at £2.30 in Primary schools and £2.70 in Secondary schools. 

Date Written 6th April 2021 

Report Author Fairyal Pabani, 
Anthony Lewis 

Service Area Learning  

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non-Exempt Non-Exempt 

Committee Date 21st April 2021 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 No price increase was considered during financial year 2020/21 due to the 

coronavirus pandemic and the interruption to the service delivery that was 
experienced.    

 

4.0 SCHOOL MEALS 2020/21 
 
4.1 No school meals were provided during the Summer Term 2020 due to the first 

lockdown.  When schools reopened for the three-week period prior to the Summer 
holidays all pupils were required to bring a packed lunch because Catering staff had 
been furloughed. 
  

4.2 School meals were then reintroduced across all schools during the Autumn Term 2020 
from week commencing 14th September. A reduced menu was offered across all 
schools to ease service logistics during the current restrictions. 
  

4.3 During the trading period to the end of December 2020, overall trade was at around 
50% compared to year-on-year data.  Actual cash sales were 39% of prior year levels 
with the number of free school meals served daily at 73% of pre-pandemic figures. 
 

4.4 The daily average meals provided did increase during the period of trading and this 
may indicate increasing confidence on behalf of parents and pupils to receive a school 
meal in the COVID secure environment that schools and the meals service were 
operating in. 
 

4.5 The school meals service was reintroduced on a staggered approach in Primary 
schools during the second half of the Spring Term 2021, with Foundation Phase pupils 
being provided meals from 1st March 2021 and KS2 pupils being provided with meals 
from 15th March 2021.  
 

4.6 The reduced trading days and reduced meal sales because of COVID has had a 
significant impact on the service budget during 2020/21 and the combination of staff 
being furloughed during Summer Term 2020 and Spring Term 2021 as well as an 
income loss claim to Welsh Government via the Hardship grant has been necessary to 
balance the budget.  
 

4.7 The number of pupils eFSM has also increased significantly over the pandemic period 
with an increase of 24.9% in total pupils eFSM in February 2021 compared to January 
2020.  
 

5.0 SCHOOL MEALS PRICING 2021/22 
 

5.1 The increase in the number of pupils eFSM has resulted in the SLA income from 
schools being increased by 230k to £1.5 million when setting the budget for next 
financial year 2021/22.  
 

5.2 This budgeted increase offsets the loss of income expected from reduced cash sales 
due to fewer pupils being required to pay for their meals.  

 
 
 

Page 18



 
5.3 If the number of pupils eFSM continues to increase during the financial year 2021/22 

then this may have a further negative impact on the income recovered via meal sales 
and presents a risk to the School Meals budget during 2021/22 which will require 
further monitoring during the year. 
 

5.4 An increase in school meal prices at the current time is expected to result in a further 
reduction to meal sales and would have an adverse impact on income recovery, 
particularly when meal numbers have fallen significantly during the pandemic when 
trading has been able to take place.  
 

5.5 A period of trading stability is required to provide opportunity for school meal sales to 
recover to pre-pandemic levels and to assess any ongoing impacts to demand for 
school meals, both free school meals and paying meals, in the aftermath of the 
pandemic. 
 

5.6 Continued interruption to service delivery due to COVID will result in ongoing income 
loss during 2021/22 and will require further claims via the Hardship fund for as long as 
this remains an option.  

 
5.7 In addition to the uncertainty regarding school meals income the likely impact on the 

unit food costs to provide a school meal are unknown at present. 
 
5.8 The current collaborative procurement arrangements for food and beverages are due 

to expire in August 2021 however due to the current uncertainty in the market because 
of the implications of the pandemic, options are being explored to potentially extend 
these arrangements for up to 24 months.  

 
5.9 The implications for there to be a change in prices requested by suppliers as part of 

any extension either due to Brexit or the pandemic’s impact is not yet clear and so 
contract prices and unit food costs will require further monitoring and review. 

 
5.10 It is therefore proposed that during this period of uncertainty the cost of school meals 

remain at current prices with a further review undertaking as part of budget setting for 
financial year 2022/23. 

 
5.11 Table 1 illustrates school meal prices being charged by local authorities across the 

Central South Consortium region for the financial year 2020/21 with proposed prices 
for 2021/22 

 
Table 1 – Central South Consortium - school meal prices financial years 2020/21 and 
proposed prices 2021/22 (based on available information) 
 

 Merthyr Bridgend Cardiff RCT Vale of 
Glamorgan  

(Big Fresh Ltd) 

  20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 

 Primary £2.30 No 
increase 
proposed 

£2.20 No 
increase 
proposed 

£2.50 No 
increase 
proposed 

£2.55 Fixed for 2 
years until 
2023/24 
 

£2.35 £2.40 

Secondary £2.70 No 
Increase 
proposed 

£2.50 No 
Increase 
proposed 

£2.95 No 
Increase 
proposed 

£2.80 Fixed for 2 
years until 
2023/24 

£2.55 £2.60 

  

Page 19



6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
6.1 The school meals budget has been set for 2021/22 using the current school meal 

prices and no further financial implication is noted. 
 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives  0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles - 
How have you considered the five ways 
of working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
10 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage  
0 of 6 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
6 of 6 

 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 
 

1 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

Yes No 

 
1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
 0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

Maintaining school meal prices provides a sustainable approach in the 
current circumstances to delivering the school meal service within a 
balanced budget.  
 
 

The main negative 
impacts are: 

There are no negative impacts. 
 

 

 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR MYTTON 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 
 

Page 20



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Cabinet Report ISB 
Funding Reductions 2019-

20 

19th December 2018 INTRANET 
 

School Meals New Menu 
November 2018 

 

24th October 2018 
 

INTRANET 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of 
each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

PAYMENT OF CARE HOME FEES 2021/2022 

 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Members will recall that Pembrokeshire County Council was taken to Judicial Review 

by Forest Care Home Limited in December 2010 over the care fees set by Pembroke 
for the 2010/2011 financial year.  

 
1.2 As a result of this Local Authorities had to ensure that they had a methodology for 

setting care home fees that complied with “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive Communities 
Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice”.  

 

1.3 The payment of care fees for contracted placements in independent sector 
residential and nursing homes is an issue that is highly significant for all authorities in 
Wales.  The Judicial Review gave and has continued to give a sharp focus to and 
identified a challenge for all local authorities to have a robust methodology in place 
to calculate fees paid to independent sector care home providers.  

 
1.4 Rockhaven Healthcare who had significant experience in the area of developing fee 

toolkits, were commissioned to develop a bespoke care fee toolkit for the setting of 
care fees for 2016/2017 for independent sector residential and nursing care homes 
for use by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

 
1.5 Rockhaven Healthcare’s report “Costs of Care Analysis in Merthyr Tydfil 2016/2017” 

recommended the appropriate level of fees for independent sector residential and 
nursing care homes in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council for 2016/2017 and 
was accepted by Council and used to form the basis of the fees paid for placements 
in independent sector residential and nursing care homes. 

 

Date Written 30th March 2021* 

Report Author Lesley Gallent 

Service Area Financial Assessment & Charging 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 21st April 2021 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



1.6 It was agreed with the Independent Providers that instead of going through the 
process of collecting detailed financial and other statistical information every year; 
that this exercise would only be carried out every three years.  In the interim years, 
the care fees would be uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase to recognise the 
increasing costs of providing care.  Due to the current Covid-19 situation and 
pressures faced by all it is decided that an inflationary uplift would continue to be 
used. 

 

1.7 The cost of paying the revised fee levels uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase, 
for the current number of individuals in residential and nursing care, has been 
estimated as being £235,620 for 2021/2022. 

 
1.8 Funding for this was identified in the Medium Term Financial Plan for the Authority 

and has been included in the People and Performance Directorate’s budget for 
2021/2022. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The payment of fees to independent sector residential and nursing care service 

providers at the rates shown in Appendix 1 be approved. 
 
2.2 The back dating of the increase in fees for 2021/2022, effective from 1st April 2021, 

be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The payment of care fees for contracted placements in independent sector 

residential and nursing homes is an issue that is highly significant for all local 
authorities in Wales.  The Judicial Review in Pembrokeshire in 2010 gave a sharp 
focus to and identified a challenge for all local authorities to have a robust 
methodology in place to calculate fees paid to independent sector care home 
providers.  

 
3.2 All toolkits developed had to be in accordance with the “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive 

Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” that was 
issued in August 2010 by the Welsh Assembly Government under Section 7 of the 
Local Authority Social Services Act 1970. 

 
3.3 Section 7 Guidance means that Councils must “act under” the general guidance of 

the relevant minister or in respect of a devolved function the Welsh Ministers.  While 
following guidance is not mandatory an authority can only depart from it for good 
reason.  If a Council deviates from guidance without a considered and cogently 
reasoned decision it acts unlawfully and in a manner which is amenable to challenge 
and judicial review, as was the case with Pembrokeshire County Council and Forest 
Care Homes. 

 
 
 

Page 24



3.4 Fee setting toolkits therefore need to comply with “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive 
Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” in particular 
they must take account of the providers costs and the factors that may affect them 
on the basis of good local evidence.  Fee setting must take into account the 
legitimate current and future costs faced by providers as well as factors that affect 
these costs, and the potential for improved performance and more cost-effective 
ways of working.  The fees set need to be adequate to enable providers to meet the 
specifications set by the commissioners together with regulatory requirements. 

 
3.5 In order to support the care home sector during the Covid 19 pandemic additional 

funding has been provided via Welsh Government via the hardship fund and this will 
continue for the early part of 2021/2022 therefore any additional costs associated 
with the pandemic have not been factored into the calculations. 

 
3.6 At the time of writing the report Welsh Government are consulting on future 

arrangements for fee setting on a regional and national level and the impact on 
future care fee setting will be factored into any longer-term financial planning. 

 

4.0 METHODOLOGY 
 
4.1 The approach that was taken was that the bespoke toolkit previously developed for 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council that complied with “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive 
Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” was re-
populated and updated with current up-to-date financial information and costs. 

 
4.2 Rockhaven Healthcare was re-commissioned to undertake this task again for the 

setting of care fees for residential and nursing care homes for 2016/2017. 
Rockhaven Healthcare was re-commissioned as they have detailed and specialised 
knowledge of the methodology used to develop the care fee toolkit in Merthyr Tydfil 
as well as significant experience in the area of developing fee toolkits for 
independent sector residential and nursing care homes. 

 
4.3 Data was provided by the Independent Sector Care Home providers in Merthyr Tydfil 

for the 12-month period ending March 2016.  This information was used as the base 
data for the calculation of the legitimate costs of providing care and from this data 
the rates of care fees was calculated for the 2016/2017 financial year. 

 
4.4 When Rockhaven Healthcare presented their Cost of Care Analysis Report there 

was no challenge from the Independent Providers that it was not a true and accurate 
reflection of the actual costs of providing residential and nursing care in Merthyr 
Tydfil.   

 
4.5 It was agreed with the Independent Providers that instead of going through the 

process of collecting detailed financial and other statistical information every year; 
that this exercise would only be carried out every three years. In the interim years, 
the care fees would be uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase to recognise the 
increasing costs of providing care. 

 
 

Page 25



4.6 2019/2020 was the third year of the three-year cycle; however, given current 
pressures, this has been extended and as such an inflationary increase has been 
added to the care fees rather than undertaking a detailed financial and statistical 
exercise. 

 
4.7 Two potential options were identified as being available to calculate the increase for 

2021/2022: 
 

i) To uplift the total fee levels by a recognised inflationary indices, such as the 
Consumer Price Index. 

 
ii) To apply recognised inflationary indices such as the Consumer Price Index to 

the fee levels but to apply differing inflationary increases to the different 
elements that make up the constituent costs eg. 

 Staffing costs - increase in minimum wage. 

 Power - specific element of CPI relating to utilities. 

 Water - specific element of CPI relating to utilities. 

 Food - specific element of CPI relating to food and non-alcoholic 
beverages. 

 
4.8 The Independent Care Home Providers were consulted on what their preferred 

option would be and the preferred option expressed by the majority of providers who 
responded to use when calculating the fee increase for 2020/2021 was Option 2 
which is to apply a recognised inflationary indices such as the Consumer Price Index 
to the fee levels but to apply differing inflationary increases to the different elements 
that make up the constituent costs. 

 
4.9 As this is an extended year after the three-year cycle, a further report will be 

submitted later in the year outlining options/recommendations for the care fee setting 
for 2021/2022 onwards. 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Using the methodology that has been agreed with the Independent Providers the 

care fees for 2021/2022 would be as follows: 
 

PERSONAL CARE   
2020/2021 
weekly rate 

£ 

2021/2022 
weekly rate 

£ 

Older Person  585 592 

Dementia  650 657 

Learning Disability  969 981 

 

NURSING CARE  
(excludes the health board & social care FNC) 

2020/2021 
weekly rate 

£ 

2021/2022 
weekly rate 

£ 

Older Person  649.73 660.91 

Dementia  696.73 708.71 

Page 26



5.2 The cost of paying the revised fee levels uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase, 
for the current number of individuals in residential and nursing care, has been 
estimated as being £235,620 for 2021/2022. 

 
5.3 Funding for this was identified in the Medium Term Financial Plan for the Authority 

and has been included in the People and Performance Directorate’s budget for 
2021/2022. 

 
5.4 The work that has been undertaken by Rockhaven Healthcare in producing the 

Costs of Care Analysis in Merthyr Tydfil Report relates exclusively to the financial 
position of the care homes that sit within the geographical boundaries of Merthyr 
Tydfil. 

 
5.5 It is therefore difficult to compare fee rates across different local authorities as the 

financial circumstances for the care homes in other local authorities will be different 
and will not bear comparison.  This is because to comply with “Fulfilled Lives, 
Supportive Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” 
fee setting toolkits must take account of the providers’ costs and the factors that may 
affect them on the basis of good local evidence.   

 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

6.1 
 
 

Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
  

0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles 
- How have you considered the five 
ways of working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
10 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage  
0 of 6 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
6 of 6 

 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 
 

1 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

Yes No 

 
1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

Page 27



7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
1 of 1 

 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

There are no positive impacts. 
 

The main negative 
impacts are: 

There are no negative impacts. 
 

 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                  CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Fulfilled Lives, 
Supportive Communities 
Commissioning 
Framework Guidance 
and Good Practice 
 
England and Wales 
High Court 
(Administrative Court) 
Decision 
Forest Care Home 
Limited v 
Pembrokeshire County 
Council 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council 
Cost of Care Analysis 
2016/2017 
 

 
August 2010 

 
 
 
 
 

December 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2016 
 
 
 
 

 
Unit 5 
 
 
 
 
 
Unit 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Unit 5 
 
 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 
 
 
 

Page 28



APPENDIX 1 

 
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Independent Sector 
 

  

 
Proposed Payments for Residential 

and Nursing Care Services 
2021/2022 

 

  

 Rates                  
1 April 2020 

Rates                 
1 April 2021 

Residential Care Homes £  

   

Old Age 585 592 

Elderly Mentally Infirm 650 657 

   

Physical Disability   

a (under pensionable age) 1487 1509 

b (over pensionable age) 585 592 

Mental Handicap (Learning Difficulty) 969 981 

Others 585 592 

   

   

Nursing Homes   

(Excludes the Local Health Board & 
social care FNC) 

  

Old Age 649.73 660.91 

Elderly Mentally Infirm 696.73 708.71 

   

Drug Alcohol Dependency 649.73 660.91 

Mental Illness 649.73 660.91 

Others 649.73 660.91 
 

Local Health Board Free Nursing Care Contribution (FNC) is £179.13 and LA Social Care 
element of FNC is £7.27 effective from 1st April 2020 and is not included in the above. 
2021/2022 rates for FNC have not yet been confirmed by the Local Health Board. 
 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Public Health Wales Act 2017
	4 Repayable Funding to Support the Regeneration of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre
	5 School Meal Prices 2021/22
	6 Payment of Care Home Fees 2021/2022

